RECEIVED

08-15-2018

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT II

Case No. 2018 AP 649 - CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DANIEL A. GRIFFIN,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal From Judgment of Conviction Entered in Fond du Lac County, Circuit Court Branch 1, The Honorable Dale L. English Presiding

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

JAYMES K. FENTON State Bar # 1084265

633 W. Wisconsin Ave. Suite 2000 Milwaukee, WI 53203 (414) 858-6650 jayfentonlaw@gmail.com

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Was Griffin entitled to present evidence to the jury that the crimes were actually committed by Arriella Smart pursuant to <u>State v. Denny.</u>

The circuit court answered no.

2. Should videos depicting Griffin shouting at the victims to startle them from sleep have been suppressed as inadmissible other acts evidence?

The circuit court answered no.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument is not requested as the defendant-appellant, Daniel A. Griffin (hereinafter "Griffin") anticipates case can be decided by the party's briefs. Publication would be appropriate as the published opinion would establish a new rule of law or modify, clarify, or criticize an existing rule. Wis. Stats. §§ 809.22 and 809.23(1)(a)1.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On July 21, 2015, Griffin was charged with 1st Degree Reckless Homicide and two counts of Childs Abuse-Intentionally Causing Great Bodily Harm. (R. 1). The charges stemmed from injuries caused to twin brothers, MHP, who died as a result of his injuries, and MDP. (R. 1).

On July 7, 2015, MHP, a 14 month old infant, died as a result of a significant and traumatic injury, with a cause of death likely the result of a lacerated liver. (R. 1: 1). His twin brother, MDP, was also hospitalized that day for injuries substantially similar to MHP. (R. 1: 1). Both brothers (hereinafter when referred to collectively "the twins") had broken ribs, bruising across their torsos and genitals, lacerated livers, and other internal injuries, as well as having alcohol present in their bloodstreams. (R. 1: 1). There is no dispute that their injuries were intentionally caused and not accidental in nature.

Griffin was, on that date, involved in a romantic relationship with Airrealle Smart (hereinafter "Smart"), the mother of the twins, although he was not their father. (R. 1: 2). Griffin and Smart had recently moved to the city of Fond du Lac, in Fond du Lac County, to look for employment, and had been staying with Smart's friend, Shakita Pillow (hereinafter "Pillow"). (R. 1: 2-3). Griffin and Smart, along with the twins, moved into Pillow's residence on July 4, 2015. (R. 102: 213). Pillow's 5 year old son, C.H, was also a resident there. (R. 102: 248).

On July 7, 2015, three days after Griffin and Smart arrived in Fond du Lac, emergency personnel were dispatched to Pillow's residence at approximately 1:56 p.m. following an emergency call about MHP, who was unresponsive. (R. 1: 2). MHP ultimately died that day as a result of substantial injuries to his torso. (R. 1: 1).

Following the death of MHP, both Griffin and Smart were interviewed multiple times by police regarding the injuries to the twins. (R. 1: 2-5). Both initially denied any knowledge of how the twins sustained their injuries. (R. 1: 2-3). Also questioned was C.H., who was forensically interviewed three days after the death of MHP. (R. 32; App 106). During that interview, C.H. stated that he observed both Smart and Griffin commit violent acts against the twins in the days before MHP's death. (R. 31, R. 91: 47-48; App. 106-108, 165-166).

¹ Throughout the transcripts and pre-trial filings, some of which are included in the appendix to this brief, the court and parties refer to C.H. by his first name of C.J. Because the child's initials are C.H., he will be referred to as such in this brief. It is noted for clarity however, that C.H. and C.J. are the same person.

During his interview, C.H. made a number of allegations against Smart. (R. 31: 1-2; App. 106-107). These include allegations that C.H. was personally "whoop[ed]" and hit with a belt by Smart, that he observed Smart "whooping" and striking both of the twins with a belt, that Smart had screamed profanities at the twins, that Smart kicked the twins, and "cracked the hands" of one of the twins. (R. 31: 1-2; App. 106-107).

In one of her interviews with law enforcement officers, Smart admitted to stepping on the twins "in a playful manner" on past occasions. (R. 31: 2; 91: 31; App. 107, 149). In a video recorded interview from July 15, 2015 which was reviewed by the court, Smart made a number of incriminating statements. (R. 92: 10; App. 180). Specifically, she admitted to using a belt to strike the twins, says "it might seem like I did this", says that C.H. would not lie about witnessing her physically abusing the twins, and that she needs to take the blame for MHP's death. (R. 31: 2; 92: 10-13; App. 107, 180-183). At one point during the interview she begins questioning whether she could have killed MHP, even if it was accidental. (R. 92: 13; App. 183).

Later in the interview, Smart begins to implicate Griffin as being responsible for the injuries sustained by the twins. (R. 92: 14; App. 184). Smart tells officers that she observed Griffin standing on one of the twins with his foot for a period of 5-6 seconds. (R. 92: 14; App. 184). After telling this to officers, Smart placed a phone call to Griffin with officers in the room, utilizing the speaker phone function of the phone. (R. 92: 14; App. 184). During that conversation Griffin denied any wrongdoing and disputed that he had stood on or injured the twins in any way. (R. 92: 14-15; App. 184-85).

Based substantially on the statements from Smart implicating Griffin, Griffin was charged for the injuries sustained by the twins and the death of MHP. (R. 1).

During pretrial proceedings, the state filed a memorandum seeking to preclude the introduction of any evidence suggesting a third party perpetrator. (R. 20; App. 104). The state's motion specifically sought to exclude evidence that the injuries to MHP and MDP were caused by Smart or Pillow as being inadmissible under <u>State v Denny</u>. (R. 20; App. 104). Griffin filed a response detailing the evidence that would be shown to demonstrate the injuries to the twins were caused by either Smart or Pillow. 2 (R. 31: App. 106). The primary basis for seeking admission of evidence pursuant to <u>Denny</u> was twofold, first, the statements made by Smart to investigators, and second, the statements made by C.H. to the forensic interviewer. (R. 31; App. 106).

Along with the responsive filing seeking admission of evidence pursuant to <u>Denny</u>, Griffin also filed a motion seeking to admit the recorded statement of C.H. (R. 32). At a later hearing, it was made clear that this request was contingent upon the court's decision to admit third-party perpetrator evidence pursuant to <u>Denny</u>. (R. 92: 22; App. 192).

At a motion hearing on August 12, 2016 the court heard arguments relating to the admissibility of third-party

² Although the pretrial <u>Denny</u> motions dealt with evidence against both Smart and Pillow, Griffin now concedes that evidence suggesting that Pillow caused the injuries would be inadmissible under <u>Denny</u>, as such, this appeal, as it relates to the <u>Denny</u> evidence, will only apply to the court's ruling denying the admissibility of evidence that Smart committed the crimes.

perpetrator evidence pursuant to <u>Denny</u>. (R. 91: 17-52; App. 135-170). Following arguments from both sides, the court decided that it would watch the entire video of the July 15, 2015 interrogation of Smart. (R. 91: 50-51; App. 168-169).

At a subsequent hearing held on August 19, 2016, the court ultimately barred the Griffin from introducing evidence that Smart caused the injuries to the twins pursuant to the <u>Denny</u> standard. (R. 92: 21; App. 191).

The court examined all three prongs of the <u>Denny</u> standard in issuing its ruling. First, the court determined that Griffin would be able to demonstrate that Smart had motive to cause the injuries to the twins. (R. 92: 16-17; App. 186-187). Second, the court concluded that Griffin would be able to demonstrate that Smart had the opportunity to commit the crime based on her proximity to the twins during the general time period when the injuries would have to have been inflicted. (R. 92: 17-18; App. 187-188).

However, when assessing the third prong, direct connection, the court determined that Griffin could not show that Smart was directly connected to the crime. (R. 92: 21; App. 191). As such, the court denied Griffin's request to introduce evidence that the crime was caused by Smart. (R. 92: 21; App. 191). The court's reasoning was as follows:

So, with respect to Ms. Smart, we've got C.J.'s statement that she used physical discipline with the twins – belt, hangar, and kicked them. Ms. Smart admitted using the belt on the kids for discipline. Attorney Toney argues, and I think there's validity to it, that the kicking that was alleged would not be in the area so where the mechanism of de3ath per the coroner existed.

Actually, per the coroner, the mechanism of injuries was consistent with somebody stepping on the child. And then we've got the hangar and the belt. C.J. also implicated other though, including Mr. Griffin, as far as physical discipline involving the kids.

So I don't think there's enough there, as I said last Friday, solely with respect to C.J.'s statements to establish a direct connection between Ms. Smart and the crimes that are alleged, the reckless homicide and child abuse, which allegedly occurred on that date.

So then is there enough when one adds Ms. Smart's statements in the interview? And I guess I don't, I don't see that. Because when you actually watch the interview, as I said before not to be overly redundant, and you watch the comments in context and how things are said, I don't think there's enough there – unless one takes it out of context and just reads it on a piece of paper – that would establish evidence that suggested that she committed these crimes and not somebody else. I think that the direct connection is missing – even if you take C.J.'s statements which implicate her potentially and others and her own statements. So I think the direct connection is missing.

If I also include Attorney Toney's police reports, text messages between the defendant and Detective Hahn where Mr. Griffin is saying, you have the wrong person. You know it wasn't Ms. Smart. It was somebody else. It was Ms. Pillow. That even provides – that even further weakens any direct connection argument. But I think the direct

connection is missing even before you tack on and add on the text messages attributed to Mr. Griffin saying she didn't do it.

(R. 92: 19-21; App. 189-91).

Consequently, Griffin then withdrew his motion to admit the recorded statement of C.H. as it was no longer relevant. (R. 92: 22; App. 192). Had the motion to allow Denny evidence been granted, Griffin would have sought admission of the C.H. statement, which would not have been opposed by the state. (R. 91: 17; App. 135).

One other significant pretrial motion was also filed by the state. Specifically, the state filed a motion seeking to introduce Other Acts Evidence pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 904.04(2), which was accompanied by an affidavit from District Attorney Eric Toney. (R. 21; 22; App. 109). The motion sought to introduce three videos recovered from the defendant's cell phone. (R. 21: 1-2).

The first two of these videos were made at approximately the same time and appear to have been made within the same minute as each other. (R. 21: 1-2). The videos were time and date stamped as having been created at 7:08 p.m. on July 5, 2015. (R. 21: 1-2). These two videos depict the twins sleeping next to one another with Griffin lying next to them on a bed. (R. 21: 1-2). Both videos show Griffin positioning himself to within 6-12 inches of the twin's heads and shouting loudly, apparently in an effort to startle the twins awake. (R. 21: 1-2). In the first of the two videos the twins are observed flinching. (R. 21: 1-2).

The third video the state sought to admit from Griffin's cell phone was one created on June 26, 2015 at 12:40 a.m. (R.

21: 2). This third video was ultimately ruled to be irrelevant and unfairly prejudicial to Griffin, and was excluded from being played to the jury at trial. (R. 100: 144-146).

Griffin filed a response to the state's motion seeking admission of the videos. (R. 34; App. 117). In his response, Griffin does not dispute the Toney's description of the videos, but does challenge the admissibility of the videos for not being relevant and being unduly prejudicial to Griffin. (R. 34: 1-2; App. 117-118). In challenging the relevance of the videos, Griffin argued that the attempts to scare or startle the twins does not establish any type of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, or any other factor required by Wis. Stat. § 904.04 (2). (R. 34: 2; App. 118). Griffin further argued that the videos did not depict any injuries to the twins nor did it support the state's position that Griffin caused the injuries to the twins because he was upset with them for wetting themselves and soiling a mattress. (R. 34: 2; App. 118).

The court ruled on this motion at the same hearing as the <u>Denny</u> evidence hearing on August 12, 2016 (R. 91: 2-17; App. 120-135). At the hearing, the court issued a lengthy oral decision in which it ultimately determined that the videos were admissible as they showed Griffin's intent and provided context for Griffin's relationship with the twins. (R. 91: 15-16; App. 133-134). The court also determined that the probative value of the videos was not outweighed by their unfair prejudice. (R. 91: 16; App. 134). As such, the court ruled that the videos were admissible. (R. 91: 17; App. 135).

The case against Griffin eventually proceeded to a 5-day jury trial. (R. 97-108). At the conclusion of the trial the jury rendered a verdict of guilty on all 3 counts. (R. 68; App 101). Griffin was subsequently sentenced to 40 years of initial

confinement and 20 years of extended supervision on count 1, 25 years of initial confinement and 15 years of extended supervision on count 2 to be served consecutive to count 1, and 25 years of initial confinement and 15 years of extended supervision on count 3 to be served concurrent to counts 1 and 2. (R. 68; App. 101). Griffin now appeals.

ARGUMENT

I. Griffin Was Entitled To Present Evidence To The Jury That The Crimes Were Actually Committed By Arriella Smart Pursuant To State v. Denny.

A. Standard of Review

This court ordinarily reviews the circuit court's evidentiary decisions for an erroneous exercise of discretion. State v. Munford, 2010 WI App 168, ¶ 27, 330 Wis.2d 575, 794 N.W.2d 264. However, when the circuit court denies admission of proffered evidence that implicates a defendant's constitutional right to present a defense, the decision to bar the evidence is a question of constitutional fact that this court reviews de novo. State v. Wilson, 2015 WI 48, ¶ 47, 362 Wis. 2d 193, 864 N.W.2d 52 (citations omitted).

B. Third Party Perpetrator Evidence is Admissible Under the Standard Set Forth in State v. Denny.

"The law is well established that a defendant has due process rights under the United States and Wisconsin Constitutions to present a theory of defense to the jury." Wilson, 2015 WI 48, ¶ 3; Holmes v. South Carolina, 547 U.S. 319 (2006). Evidence that the crime was committed by a third party is admissible if it can be demonstrated that there was a "legitimate tendency" that the other suspect may have

committed the crime. <u>State v. Denny</u>, 120 Wis. 2d 614, 623, 357 N.W.2d 12 (1984). To demonstrate this legitimate tendency, a defendant must make a showing that the third party had motive and opportunity to commit the crime, as well as make a showing that there is "evidence to directly connect [the] third person to the crime charged which is not remote in time, place, or circumstances." <u>Id</u>. Evidence of third party guilt is commonly called "<u>Denny</u> evidence" because it adheres to the test set forth in <u>Denny</u>. <u>Wilson</u>, 2015 WI 48, ¶ 56.

To determine the admissibility of <u>Denny</u> evidence, the court must complete an assessment of each prong. <u>Id</u>. The Supreme Court in <u>Wilson</u> laid out how each of these prongs must be analyzed:

First, did the alleged third-party perpetrator have a plausible reason to commit the crime? This is the motive prong.

Second, could the alleged third-party perpetrator have committed the crime, directly or indirectly? In other words, does the evidence create a practical possibility that the third party committed the crime? This is the opportunity prong.

Third, is there evidence that the alleged third-party perpetrator actually committed the crime, directly or indirectly? This is the direct connection prong. Logically, direct connection evidence should firm up the defendant's theory of the crime and take it beyond mere speculation. It is the defendant's responsibility to show a *legitimate* tendency that the alleged third-party perpetrator committed the crime.

<u>Id</u>. ¶¶ 57-59.

Presence at the crime scene can be considered under both opportunity and direct connection, however presence alone does not ordinarily satisfy both of these prongs. <u>Id.</u> ¶ 60. Each piece of proffered evidence is not required to satisfy all three prongs of the <u>Denny</u>. <u>Id.</u> ¶ 53. "'Facts give meaning to other facts,' and certain pieces of evidence become significant only in the aggregate, upon the proffer of other evidence." <u>Id.</u> (citing <u>State v. Vollbrecht</u>, 2012 WI App 90, ¶ 26, 344 Wis.2d 69, 820 N.W.2d 443.)

C. The Circuit Court Erred in Denying Griffin's Request to Admit <u>Denny</u> Evidence

1. The Proffered Evidence was Sufficient to Satisfy the Denny standard.

In the present case, the circuit court did assess all three prongs in great detail at both the August 12, 2016 and August 19, 2016 hearings. (R. 91; 92). First, the circuit court concluded that Griffin had satisfied the motive prong by showing that Smart had a motive to cause the injuries to the twins. (R. 92: 16-17; App. 186-197). Second, the circuit court determined that Smart had opportunity to commit the crimes due to her presence in the house and being with the twins on July 7, 2015. (R. 92: 17-18; App. 187-188).

However, when determining whether Smart had a direct connection to the crime, the circuit court determined that Griffin had failed to satisfy this final prong, and denied the admission of the third-party perpetrator evidence. (R. 92: 21; App. 191).

In <u>Wilson</u>, the Supreme Court provided substantial guidance on what constitutes a direct connection when

assessing <u>Denny</u> evidence. The Supreme Court instructed circuit courts to examine proffered evidence along with all other evidence to determine whether the proffered evidence suggests that the third-party actually committed the crime. <u>Wilson</u>, 2015 WI 48 ¶ 71 (citations omitted). One example provided by the court is that a third-party's self-incriminating statement can be used to prove the direct connection. <u>Id</u>. ¶ 71 (citing See <u>Erwin v. State</u>, 729 S.W.2d 709, 714-17 (Tex.Crim.App. 1987)).

Here, Griffin did establish that Smart had a direct connection to the commission of the crime. First, by Smart's own admissions, she had in the past stepped on the twins "in a playful manner." The twins were 14 months old on July 7, 2015. As the court itself noted, this claim is fairly nonsensical as it was unsure how one could stand on a 1 year old in a playful manner. (R. 91: 31: App. 149). An adult stepping on infants of that age could not be playful and would almost certainly result in substantial injuries to the child. Further, as noted by Dr. P. Douglas Kelley at trial, the injuries to the twins were certainly consistent with them being stood on or kicked by an adult. (R. 105: 151-52).

The evidence proffered by Griffin was sufficient to show a direct connection between Smart and the injuries caused to the twins. Smart was present in the home when they were injured. She was witnessed by C.H. kicking, "whooping", and beating the twins in the days before they died. Smart and Griffin moved into Pillow's residence only 3 days before the death of MHP, meaning that C.H.'s observations of Smart behaving in this manner necessarily occurred in the 3 days prior to MHP's death. Smart herself made incriminating statements, including that she had stepped on the twins and that she believes she caused the injuries. She also acknowledged that C.H. was a truthful witness and that

she physically abused the twins in the days before MHP's death.

By denying Griffin's request to admit <u>Denny</u> evidence implicating Smart as the perpetrator, Griffin was denied his constitutional right to present a defense as he was left with no defense whatsoever. The twins' injuries were clearly caused intentionally. Because he was not allowed to show evidence to the jury that Smart had motive, opportunity, and a direct connection to the crime, Griffin was effectively handcuffed in challenging the state's case against him. Although he was able to assert that he did not cause the injuries, Griffin was unable to present to the jury an alternative theory of who injured the twins.

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