## RECEIVED

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN 01-16-2019

### COURT OF APPEAL **CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS** OF WISCONSIN

#### DISTRICT II

Case No. 2018AP649-CR

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DANIEL A. GRIFFIN,

Defendant-Appellant.

#### APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN FOND DU LAC COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE DALE L. ENGLISH, PRESIDING

#### PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

DONALD V. LATORRACA Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1011251

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

Importantly, "Evidence is not 'other acts' evidence if it is part of the panorama of evidence needed to completely describe the crime that occurred and is thereby inextricably intertwined with the crime." *State v. Dukes*, 2007 WI App 175, ¶ 28, 303 Wis. 2d 208, 736 N.W.2d 515.

# B. The court properly admitted two short videos showing Griffin screaming at the sleeping twins.

The court correctly applied *Sullivan*'s three-step analysis when it admitted videos of Griffin screaming at the twins as they slept, taken just two days before MHP's death and MDP's hospitalization. (R.91:12–17.)

# 1. The videos were offered for an acceptable purpose.

The court properly determined that the two videos were offered for acceptable purposes under section 904.04(2)(a), including intent and background or context. (R.91:14.) First, the court reviewed the appropriate legal standards. Relying on *State v. Gray*, 225 Wis. 2d 39, 56, 590 N.W.2d 918 (1999), it noted that "intent involves knowledge, hostile feeling, or 'the absence of accident, inadvertence, or casualty—a varying state of mind which is the contrary of an innocent state of mind." *Id.* (R.91:8.) Relying on *State v. Payano*, 2009 WI 86, ¶ 63 n.12, 320 Wis. 2d 348, 768 N.W.2d 832, the court noted that evidence related to context or background also constitutes an acceptable purpose under section 904.04(2)(a), because it provides "a more complete presentation of the evidence relating to the offense charged." (R.91:8–9.)

The court next reviewed the requisite elements for each charged offense. With respect to first-degree reckless homicide under section 940.02(1), the State had to prove that Griffin caused MHP's death by reckless conduct that showed an utter disregard for human life. (R.91:10–11.) With respect to child abuse under section 948.03(2), the State had to show that Griffin intentionally caused great bodily harm to MDP and MHP. (R.91:11.)

The court reasonably recognized that Griffin's act of intentionally screaming at the sleeping twins just two days before they were harmed revealed an intent to deliberately mistreat them. (R.91:12–15.)

At a minimum, Griffin's screaming at the twins while they slept reveals a callousness that demonstrates an utter disregard for the twins' well-being. The court questioned "why anyone would walk up to a sleeping [children] and scream," and determined that these actions demonstrated the nature of Griffin's relationship with the twins. (R.91:14.) The videos also undermined Griffin's claims that Smart exclusively cared for the children and he was never alone with them. (R.103:77; Ex. 1/37 Griffin//St.Agnes/7-7-15-843, 7m:35s; 103:88.) The videos provided necessary background or context to help the jurors understand Griffin's relationship to the twins. *Hunt*, 263 Wis. 2d 1, ¶¶ 58, 59. In addition to first-degree reckless homicide, the State charged Griffin with physical abuse of a child, a crime that falls within the greater latitude rule's scope. See Wis. Stat. § 904.04(2)(b)(1). While the court did not consider the rule when it applied the Sullivan analysis, this Court may nonetheless consider the greater latitude rule to affirm the court's decision. See State v. Holt, 128 Wis. 2d 110, 124–26, 382 N.W.2d 679 (Ct. App. 1985) ("An appellate court may sustain a lower court's holding on a theory or on reasoning not presented to the lower court."). Application of the greater latitude rule reinforces the court's determination that the videos were offered for acceptable purposes including intent and background or context. The court reasonably determined that the videos were offered for an acceptable purpose.

#### 2. The videos were probative.

Based on the application of the correct legal standards, the court determined that the two videos constituted relevant evidence. (R.91:6, 12.) It determined that the videos were probative to intent and context. (R.91:15–16.)

As the court noted, nearness in time, place, and circumstances are all relevant considerations in assessing whether other acts evidence has probative value. (R.91:7 citing *Gray*, 225 Wis. 2d at 51.) While Griffin's act of yelling at the twins was dissimilar from the crimes, the court noted the videos occurred just two days before the charged crimes. (R.91:15.) Further, at trial, the State presented testimony that Griffin was growing increasingly fed up "play[ing] daddy to the kids that wasn't his" and taking care of them. (R.105:32–33.)

Particularly in light of the greater latitude rule, the court reasonably deemed probative videos showing Griffin's hostility to the twins just days before he allegedly stepped on their chests.

# 3. The videos were not unduly prejudicial.

The court found that Griffin's act of yelling at the sleeping twins was nowhere near as egregious or serious as the underlying allegations against him. (R.91:16.) Therefore, it determined that the probative value of the videos was not "substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice." (R.91:16.) The record supports this determination.

First, the fact that videos did not depict physical assaults limited their prejudicial weight. No unfair prejudice arose. See Payano, 320 Wis. 2d 348, ¶ 90. Compared to the medical evidence presented at Griffin's trial concerning the injuries to MHP and MDP, the videos were not unfairly prejudicial because they did not tend to "arouse [the jury's] sense of horror" or "provoke its instinct to punish." See Sullivan, 216 Wis. 2d at 789–90. Griffin's yelling at the twins was not "so similar in nature to the charged act that there [was] danger the jury [would] simply presume [Griffin]'s guilt in the current case." Payano, 320 Wis. 2d 348, ¶ 94 (citation omitted).

Second, the videos played a small part in the trial. They lasted eight seconds and six seconds, respectively. (R.100:158–59.) The jury saw these videos twice: they were presented during Detective Bobo's testimony and during closing arguments. (R.100:158–59; 107:126–27.)

Griffin has not met his burden of demonstrating that the unfair prejudice that flowed from the two videos substantially outweighed its probative value. See Hunt, 263 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 53. Therefore, this Court should determine that the court did not erroneously exercise its discretion when it admitted this probative evidence for an acceptable purpose.

# III. Any errors in excluding Griffin's *Denny* defense or admitting the videos were harmless.

#### A. Legal principles

"An erroneous exercise of discretion in admitting or excluding evidence does not necessarily lead to a new trial. The appellate court must conduct a harmless error analysis to determine whether the error 'affected the substantial rights of the party." *Martindale v. Ripp*, 2001 WI 113, ¶ 30, 246 Wis. 2d 67, 629 N.W.2d 698. "An error affects the substantial rights of a party if there is a reasonable probability of a different outcome." *State v. Kleser*, 2010 WI 88, ¶ 94, 328 Wis. 2d 42, 786 N.W.2d 144.

#### B. Any errors would be harmless.

Even if the court erroneously admitted the other acts evidence or excluded Griffin's *Denny* defense, the errors were harmless. The State presented compelling evidence of Griffin's guilt.

First, the twins suffered remarkably similar injuries. Dr. Kelley determined that MHP's liver was "basically torn in two" as a result of "blunt force traumatic injury" and would have resulted in death within a matter of minutes. (R.105:149.) Kelley also observed rib fractures. (R.105:133.) Similarly, Dr. Sheets identified several injuries to MDP, including broken ribs and injuries to the liver and pancreas, resulting from "severe-force blunt abdominal trauma" associated with "severe life threatening child physical abuse." (R.103:191–92.) She characterized the laceration to MDP's liver as a "very severe injury where the inside of the organ has actually been ripped apart." (R.103:168–69.) Kelley described the mechanism of MHP's death as a punch, kick, or slowly pressing a foot down on a child's abdominal area. (R.105:151– 52.)

Second, Griffin's words and actions following MHP's death and MDP's hospitalization circumstantially demonstrated his guilt. After Officer Williams spoke to Griffin at the scene and then briefly left, police then had to pound and knock on the door for at least 20 minutes before Griffin opened the door, claiming he did not hear them. (R.100:74, 83, 109.) Griffin sent Pillow a text in which he said that "the police act like they wanna put me in jail they still here." (R.100:120; Ex. 23.) When Griffin texted Pillow, officers had no reason to believe that MHP stopped breathing as a result of a crime. In fact, later that day, officers asked Griffin to reenact how the baby was positioned in an effort to understand how MHP might have died. (R.100:126.)

While detectives first spoke to Griffin at the house, as he held MDP, they asked Griffin about MDP's condition because he appeared lethargic or dazed and had labored breathing. (R.100:127; 103:31.) Griffin told the officers that the twins were born premature and received breathing treatments but that MDP's condition was normal. (R.100:127; 103:31.) But when Smart returned from the hospital, she took MDP from Griffin, noted that MDP was not acting right, and took him to the hospital. (R.100:134.) Smart's reaction to MDP's condition stands in stark contrast to Griffin's representations to the officer that MDP was normal. Additionally, in the police-monitored call that Smart placed to Griffin a week later, Griffin "couldn't say anything because the police were at the apartment." (R.105:91.) The jury could reasonably infer that Griffin had acted deliberately to conceal MDP's condition, undoubtedly the result of physical abuse.

Griffin's behavior at the hospital also demonstrated consciousness of guilt. He told Pillow, "we're going to stick to the story." (R.101:75.) Even before officers had informed Griffin of MHP's injuries, Griffin became angry, and was using the words "killed" and "homicide investigation." (R.103:70.) Griffin distanced himself from having any responsibility for the children, insisting that Smart cared for them and he was never alone with them. (R.103:88; Ex. 1/37Griffin//St.Agnes/7-7-15-843, 7m:35s.) Griffin asserted nothing had happened to the children and noted that the scratch to the back of MHP's head came from a rug burn that occurred when Smart was changing a diaper, but later told Smart that MHP suffered the rug burn when *he* was changing the diaper. (R.103:77, 86–87; 105:92.) Griffin also said they had agreed to tell police that the rug burn to MHP's head occurred when Smart was changing the diaper, though it was Griffin who changed the diaper and was caring for MHP. (R.103:133.) Griffin later told Luciano that he was changing one child's diaper when the other child ran away, prompting him to grab the child's leg, which caused the child to fall and hit his head. (R.105:33.) Griffin's inconsistent statements undermine his assertions that he was not alone with the twins, did not take care of them, and did not cause the abrasion to the back of MHP's head.

Griffin's flight also demonstrated consciousness of guilt. Through text messages, Griffin agreed to meet with investigators, but he never showed up. (R.103:91–94.) Griffin disappeared until federal marshals located him in Texas. (R.101:77.) Griffin told his hotel companion that he would run if he saw police officers because an incident happened in Wisconsin with "his ex," and he would be arrested. (R.103:20– 21.) Griffin later explained to Luciano that he fled "because them bitches couldn't keep their story straight." (R.105:44.)

Third, Griffin's statements to Luciano also established a motive for his conduct toward the children and explain how MHP sustained the injuries that resulted in his death. Griffin became "fed up" caring for Smart's children, because Smart would not change their diapers and spent money on alcohol rather than diapers. (R.105:32–33.)

According to Luciano, Griffin admitted stepping on one child who was laying on his back and grabbing the other child and throwing him toward the toddler bed. (R.105:36.) Griffin placed his foot on a child who was kicking, screaming, and crying and applied pressure because he wanted the child "to shut the fuck up." (R.105:37–38.) Griffin told Luciano that this happened when Smart and Pillow were in the bathroom. (R.105:39.)

The parties vigorously contested Luciano's credibility. The State suggested that Luciano was believable because he knew information that was not reported and detectives did not share with him, including Griffin's preference for Nike shoes. (R.98:39; 100:118–19; 103:106–08; 105:38–39.) In addition, Griffin told Luciano that he and Smart had been drinking Hennessey and officers recovered an empty Hennessey bottle from the garbage. (R.100:116; 103:211; 105:38-39.) The also considered evidence jury that undermined Luciano's credibility, including his prior convictions, his character for untruthfulness, his motives for testifying adversely to Griffin's interests, and his access to Griffin's case related materials that were kept in an unlocked drawer in their cell. (R.105:25, 43–49, 59–60, 80, 168.)

In sum, the absence of physical evidence or other eyewitnesses to the trauma that MHP and MDP suffered does not undermine the strength of the State's case against Griffin.

Moreover, Griffin cannot show a reasonable probability of a different outcome had the court granted his *Denny* motion, because CJ's recording would not have been admissible, and Smart's purported abuse of the children would not have accounted for the charged injuries. The court legitimately questioned the admissibility of CJ's statement because it marginally, at best, satisfied the oath requirement under section 908.08(3)(c). (R.91:41, 44.) *See* Section I.B.2., *supra*. In addition, based on CJ's inconsistent and, at times, nonsensical answers, and the interviewer's use of leading questions, the court also questioned whether CJ's statement satisfied section 908.08(3)(d)'s trustworthiness requirement. (R.91:41–44.) See Section I.B.2., supra.

And even if CJ's statement were admissible, both Dr. Kelley and the court determined that the conduct that CJ attributed to Smart would not have accounted for the twins' injuries. (R. 91:45; 92:19; 111:2.) See Section I.B.2., supra. Further, while Griffin relied heavily on Smart's statement to support his claim that Smart was responsible for the twins' injuries, the circuit court reasonably determined, based on its thorough review of her statement, that Griffin had taken Smart's statements out of context and her statements did not support the conclusion that she admitted harming the twins. (R. 92:16). See Section I.B.1.-2., supra.

Additionally, Griffin cannot show a reasonable probability of a different outcome from the court's admission of the videos because (1) all the other evidence against him and (2) the court's limiting instruction that minimized the risk of unfair prejudice to Griffin from the videos. (R.107:93.) See State v. Hammer, 2000 WI 92, ¶ 21, 236 Wis. 2d 686, 613 N.W.2d 629. It told the jury that it could consider the evidence "only on the issues of intent and background." (R.107:93.) It explained, "The evidence was received on the issues of intent, that is, whether the defendant acted with the state of mind that is required for two of the offenses charged. And background, that is, to provide a more complete presentation of the evidence relating to the offenses charged." (R.107:93.) The court admonished the jury not to "consider this evidence to conclude that [Griffin] has a certain character or a certain character trait and that [Griffin] acted in conformity with that trait or character with respect to the offenses charged in this case." (R.107:93.) It told the jury that it should not use this evidence "to conclude that [Griffin] is a bad person and for that reason is guilty of the offenses charged." (R.107:93–94.) Consistent with the court's cautionary instruction, the prosecutor told the jury that the

jury could consider them for "intent and background." (R.107:127.) Because jurors are presumed to follow cautionary instructions, the court's instruction reduced the risk of prejudice to Griffin from the videos' admission. *See State v. Grande*, 169 Wis. 2d 422, 436, 485 N.W.2d 282 (Ct. App. 1992).

Thus, any error in admitting or excluding evidence was harmless.

#### CONCLUSION

This Court should affirm Griffin's judgment of conviction.